IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

RICKEY BERNARD ROBERTS,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH, Attorney General, State of Florida,

Respondent-Appellee.

EMERGENCY MOTION: CAPITAL CASE, DEATH WARRANT SIGNED; EXECUTION IMMINENT.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT AND REQUEST FOR STAY OF EXECUTION

> MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Florida Bar No. 0754773 Chief Assistant CCR

JENNIFER M. COREY Florida Bar No. 0999717 Assistant CCR

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE Post Office Drawer 5498 Tallahassee, Florida 32314-5498 (904) 487-4376 Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant

INTRODUCTION

Ultimately, you have to decide who is lying and what they have to gain or lose by coming in this courtroom and lying.

Assistant State Attorney Glick, Closing Argument (R. 2945).

Assistant State Attorney Glick's argument to Mr. Roberts' jury takes on new significance in light of the newly discovered evidence presented to this Court. Mr. Roberts has presented substantial and compelling evidence that Ms. Rhonda Haines, one of the State's key witnesses, falsely testified at Mr. Roberts' trial about material factual issues. Ms. Haines testified that Mr. Roberts confessed to her -- he did not. She testified that prior to the crime she saw a gun, a baseball bat and a knife in Mr. Roberts' car -- she did not. Ms. Haines further made clear during her testimony that the State had not threatened or promised her anything in exchange for her testimony -- they did.

Ms. Haines' false testimony pushed Mr. Roberts' jury beyond the edge of reasonable doubt. Without Ms. Haines' lies, the State could not have met its burden of establishing Mr. Roberts' guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Even with Ms. Haines' testimony, Mr. Roberts' jury deliberated for three days before finally convicting Mr. Roberts. The significance of Ms. Haines' testimony has not been lost on the courts that have reviewed his case. <u>See Roberts V. Singletary</u>, 29 F.3d 1474, 1479 (11th Cir. 1994).¹ Ms. Haines' testimony was necessary for a jury verdict of guilt and a sentence of death.

Ms. Haines' sworn affidavit requires this Court to enter a stay of execution and to remand the case for a full and fair evidentiary hearing for two principal reasons. First, Ms. Haines admits that she lied about her testimony that Mr. Roberts confessed to her on several occasion. Ms. Haines' recantation alone requires that this court grant a stay of execution and an evidentiary hearing. <u>Spaziano v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 1363 (Fla. 1995); <u>Lightbourne v. Dugger</u>, 549 So. 2d 1364, 1365 (Fla. 1989).² Second, Ms. Haines admits that she lied when she said the State had not threatened her and had not promised her anything in exchange for her testimony. This newly discovered evidence was never disclosed by the State in clear violation of the dictates of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963). Mr.

(T. [2/21/96] 24).

^{&#}x27; The court relied upon Ms. Haines' testimony to show that Mr. Roberts could not meet the fundamental miscarriage of justice exception concerning the constitutional violations involving the State's other key witness, Mi ' R: In light of Ms. Haines' testimony, the court found that Mr. Roberts could not show that the claims of error probably resulted in a conviction of one who is actually innocent.

²The State in fact conceded this very point during the argument before Judge Solomon:

We're suggesting that the Court may want to direct counsel to have his witness available for a brief evidentiary hearing on that one issue and resolve any factual conflict which exists. Because otherwise, we submit, then, the pleadings cannot justify the denial of the Motion to Vacate Judgment.

Roberts is also entitled to a stay of execution on the basis of Ms. Haines' affidavit which establishes a clear case of State misconduct under <u>Brady</u>. <u>Scott v. State</u>, 657 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1995); <u>Lightbourne v. Dugger</u>, 549 So. 2d 1364, 1365 (Fla. 1989).

A. THIS CLAIM IS PROPERLY BEFORE THIS COURT ON THE MERITS

The circuit court denied Mr. Robert's Rule 3.850 motion on the merits and made <u>no</u> findings invoking a procedural bar to any of Mr. Roberts' claims. Indeed, the State made <u>no</u> assertions, in its answer or on the record, that Mr. Roberts' claim for relief based upon Ms. Haines' sworn affidavit was procedurally barred. As to each of Mr. Roberts' other claims, the State expressly invoked a procedural bar defense. <u>See</u> Answer, H. 274-77.³ The State asserted no such procedural arguments as to the claim involving Ms. Haines because Mr. Roberts has satisfied the due diligence prong set forth in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991).⁴ The State below expressly contended that Mr. Roberts

^{*} <u>See</u> Claim I of the Motion to Vacate, (PC-R. 35-40), for a full proffer of the evidence establishing that Mr. Roberts can meet the due diligence requirement under <u>Jones</u>.

³ As to Claim III, the State answered that "[1]ack of access to public records is not a basis for granting relief as defendant could have presented those claim (sic) previously." (PR-R. 276). As to Claim IV, the State contends that "[0]bjection to such [communication] at this date does not comply with Rule 2.160(e) Fla. R. Jud. Admin." (PC-R. 277). As to Claims V and VI, the State asserts "such claims are time barred by the provisions of Rule 3.850 Fla. R/ Crim. P. as having not been presented within two years of his convictions." (PC-R. 277).

cannot meet the prejudice prong of the <u>Jones</u> standard⁵ but was silent with respect to the due diligence prong of the <u>Jones</u> standard. The State -- by its silence below -- implicitly conceded that Mr. Roberts has met the due diligence requirement.

The State should be precluded from arguing at this late date that Mr. Roberts cannot meet the due diligence prong of the <u>Jones</u> standard. Mr. Roberts contends that the State has defaulted any claim of a procedural defense by failing to assert such a defense below. This is especially true given this Court's order that "[n]o reply brief will be filed." Under these unique circumstances, Mr. Roberts has no means of defending such an assertion.

Mr. Roberts has proffered significant and substantial evidence which establishes that he can meet the <u>Jones</u> due diligence test. In light of this proffer, any questions concerning due diligence could only be resolved at a full and fair evidentiary hearing. <u>Jones</u> at 916. However, the State did not contest this issue below, and it must be accepted now as having been conceded. On the record before this Court, there can be no serious question that the evidence presented by Ms. Haines was "unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at

[&]quot;The affidavit of Ms. Haines does not meet the test set forth in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991) of 'probably produce an acquittal on retrial.'" Answer, (PC-R. 275). However, during argument before Judge Solomon, the State conceded a hearing on this issue was required (T. [2/21/96] 24).

the time of trial, . . . and could not have been [then known] by the use of due diligence." Id.

B. TALKING OUT OF BOTH SIDES OF ITS MOUTH, THE STATE HAS AGREED THAT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING IS REQUIRED

[W]e urge the Court to consider granting of the limited hearing for that one purpose, to determine credibility for that one witness, and as it relates to that credibility, that's all the hearing that needs to be had in this case.

(T. [2/21/96] 39). (Assistant State Attorney Rosenblatt, speaking).

The State of Florida was playing games in the court below. In its written answer, it opposed a hearing, but orally indicated a hearing was required (T. [2/21/96] 24). The last words from the State concerning the claim involving Ms. Haines were to urge the circuit court to grant an evidentiary hearing. When the judge asked if the State had drafted an order denying the 3.850 motion, the State acknowledged it had not because it was expecting a limited evidentiary hearing to be ordered (T. [2/21/96] 64-65).

In its Answer, the State unequivocally urged the circuit court to summarily deny the claim on the merits: "The affidavit of Ms. Haines does not meet the test set forth in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991) of 'probably produce an acquittal on retrial.'" (Answer, PC-R. 275). At the hearing, the State began its argument from that same position: "We have filed our response as to why we believe this claim can be summarily denied." (PC-R. 21).

The State then began urging a limited evidentiary hearing:

I still think that we can accommodate the petitioner as well as the currently scheduled execution, by resolving this issue at this time in a very limited, focused hearing on that one question; as to whether or not Mr. Rabin did anything or could have done anything, since he was no longer employed.

(PC-R. 24). At this point in the hearing, the State was advocating a limited evidentiary hearing on one specific issue:

> Did Mr. Rabin make a promise or not? We offered to have a limited evidentiary hearing on that issue. . . I offer it again, to have a limited hearing on that one issue which has some evidentiary question. . . We're suggesting that the Court may want to direct counsel to have his witness available for a brief evidentiary hearing on that one issue and resolve any factual conflict that exists. <u>Because otherwise, we submit, then,</u> the pleadings cannot justify the denial of the Motion to Vacate Judgment.

(T. [2/21/96] 23-4) (emphasis added).

This position, although conceding that an evidentiary hearing was required, ignored the significant facts that Ms. Haines now said that Mr. Roberts never confessed to her and that she never observed a gun, a baseball bat or a knife in Mr. Roberts car and that the State gave her consideration for her testimony.

During the argument, the State conceded Ms. Haines' affidavit raised an issue which was "simply one of credibility as to whether or not Mr. Rabin offered any kind of deal and two, whether he followed up on it" (T. [2/21/96] 32). By the end of

the arguments concerning Ms. Haines, the State urged the court to grant an evidentiary hearing on:

the question of whether or not Rhonda Haines did or didn't hear from the defendant a statement to the effect, "I think I may have killed a man." And whether or not he made another statement to her at a later time from jail. That is, we submit, the crux and substance of what the evidentiary hearing has to be. . . . So the only issue is whether or not [Mr. Roberts] made the statement and whether or not Mr. Rabin promised her anything in order to get that statement.

(PC-R. 37-8).

Throughout the hearing, undersigned counsel argued that a full and fair evidentiary hearing was required. Counsel also made clear that if the circuit court ordered an evidentiary hearing during the warrant period, counsel would do what was necessary to get Ms. Haines to Florida⁶:

> If this Court orders an evidentiary hearing and it orders it to start next week, I will do what I can to get [Ms. Haines] here.

(T. [2/21/96] 34).

Mr. Roberts' position below was consistent -- he wanted an evidentiary hearing and was entitled to one. The State of Florida after filing an answer opposing a hearing, shifted its position and argued a hearing was required. The State argued that the scope of the hearing should be narrow.

^o Ms. Haines currently resides in California. Undersigned counsel informed the circuit court that Ms. Haines would have to be subpoenaed so that she could take time for her job and make arrangements for child care. (T. [2/21/96] 44). Ms. Haines is a struggling single mother of three year old twins.

Undersigned counsel argued to the circuit court:

If [the claim] doesn't warrant an evidentiary hearing, why are they saying [the court should conduct one]? It's one or the other. I want an evidentiary hearing.

(T. [2/21/96] 34). The State's final argument to the circuit court urging the court to grant an evidentiary hearing is a clear concession that such a hearing is required.

C. THE ALLEGATIONS TAKEN AT FACE VALUE ARE SUFFICIENT TO REQUIRE AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING

Despite the significant and longstanding precedent of this Court to the contrary, <u>Lightbourne v. State</u>, 549 So. 2d 1364, 1365 (Fla. 1989), the State advocated in its written Answer that Ms. Haines' newly sworn evidence be summarily rejected as incredible without the benefit of an evidentiary hearing. The State contends that Ms. Haines' affidavit is:

> repudiated as a matter of record, inasmuch as Sam Rabin, who Haines asserted pressured her and dealt with Broward County after she testified in late 1985, terminated his employment with the State Attorney's Office in early 1985, and did nothing further with the case.

(Answer, PC-R. 276). The State is factually wrong and legally incorrect as its concession during the argument before Judge Solomon acknowledged.

First, the State misrepresents the facts. Ms. Haines now swears that Mr. Rabin did pressure her and promised her that he would "take care of the pending charges like he did with my Dade arrest." Affidavit of Rhonda Williams, (PC-R. 102). Ms. Haines does not know if Mr. Rabin personally dealt with Broward County

before trial, after trial or if someone else at the State Attorney's Office did it in his stead. She only concluded that "Mr. Rabin was good on his word," because "[a]fter I testified, the Broward County charges disappeared." <u>Id</u>. Mr. Rabin's deposition in no way repudiates Ms. Haines' affidavit.

In fact, the record before this Court establishing the progression of Ms. Haines' various statements and the circumstances surrounding each change in her story lends credibility to Ms. Haines' recantation. Ms. Haines' first statement provided Mr. Roberts with an alibi claiming that Mr. Roberts was with her the night of the crime. Ms. Haines was then jailed for three weeks as an accessory. Her second statement came about when she agreed to give Assistant State Attorney Rabin a sworn statement acknowledging that she could not account for Mr. Roberts' whereabouts from 9:00 p.m., June 3rd, until 5:00 a.m. on June 4th, the day of the crime. During this sworn statement, she denied knowledge of any incriminating evidence against Mr. Roberts. Ms. Haines repeated this version to members of Mr. Roberts' defense team which was headed by former United States District Court Judge Thomas E. Scott. Affidavits of Eileen Rooney and Thomas E. Scott, (PC-R. 133-39).

Ms. Haines' third version did not come about until December 1984 -- <u>before</u> Mr. Rabin left the State Attorney's Office. It was then for the first time and despite her previous statements to the contrary that she claimed that Mr. Roberts confessed to her. Upon being told of this sudden change in her story just

three days before trial, Judge Scott filed a Motion to Withdraw as Counsel of Record. In that motion, Judge Scott set forth his reaction to this significant disclosure on the eve of trial:

> This is the first time in the entire history of the case that any type of admission or confession has been even suggested at by the evidence.

(R. 105). Moreover, as the motion indicates, the disclosure given by the State was that Ms. Haines would now say that Mr. Roberts told her "I think I may have killed someone." <u>Id</u>.

By the time of her deposition and trial, Ms. Haines' story had gotten even better:

[The day after the crime, Mr. Roberts told me] I think I killed somebody and I asked him if it was a man or woman and he said a man and that was it, because I really didn't believe him, so I didn't push it no more.

* * * *

[Mr. Roberts later] told me that he went down to Rickenbacker Causeway and he had seen these two guys and he had asked them if they had any reefer and they says no, so he kept on going.

He went down to the beach a little bit further and run into this Cuban guy and this girl, but he said there was another girl that was sleeping in the back of the car, and he said that him and the guy, they was doing cocaine, that they was sharing the girl and the guy got all-- the Cuban guy had got all mad they were pushing each other in a big argument and he had hit him in the head with a baseball bat.

* * * *

Q. Later on, months later, did you tell anybody, the prosecutor or Louise Vasquez, Bill Howell or myself, that, in fact, you had seen a gun, a bat, and a knife in Rick's car?

A. Yes.

(R. 1680, 1688 and 1686).

Ms. Haines now provides this Court with the explanation for her sudden change in her story and how it eventually improved:

> I testified the way that I did because Mr. Rabin would not leave me alone and because he said he could take care of the pending charges like he did with my Dade arrests. He wore me down with his constant pressure for a "better" story. I was tired and afraid for myself, and so I lied.

(Affidavit of Rhonda Williams, PC-R. 102). Her mother, Carolyn Haines, has also recently provided an affidavit which corroborates Rhonda Haines' recent disclosure:

> I was also worried about Rhonda. As her mother, I did not want her to go to prison, especially when she was pregnant. The prosecutor made many phone calls, and the pressure on Rhonda was very intense. Rhonda did not know what to do, and she asked me for advice. Because I did not want her to go to prison, I told her she just had to do something to distance herself from Rick. Ι did not know Rick at all, but I knew Rhonda and I knew she was in trouble. I was so worried about her. So I told Rhonda to just tell the prosecutor something that would get him off her back. I told her to say whatever it took to satisfy him. It didn't matter whether or not what she told him was true. Finally, Rhonda agreed that was the best thing for her. So she said she would tell the prosecutor what he wanted to hear.

Affidavit of Carolyn Haines, App. 3.

Ms. Haines' recent recantation comes as no surprise to Mr. Roberts' trial attorneys. Affidavits of Eileen Rooney Stafford, Thomas E. Scott and Ken Lange, R. 129-39. The record before this Court in no way repudiates Ms. Haines' affidavit -- it <u>lends</u> credibility to Ms. Haines' recantation.⁷

Second, the State in its written Answer was legally incorrect in asserting that factual discrepancies can be resolved without an evidentiary hearing as the State later conceded during its argument before Judge Solomon. Mr. Roberts' allegations must be accepted as true at this point in the proceedings. Lightbourne v. State, 549 So. 2d 1364, 1365 (Fla. 1989). There is no way that a court can make a credibility determination without an evidentiary hearing -- yet the State conceded below "the issue is simply one of credibility" (T. [2/21/96] 32).

"Accepting the allegations . . . at face value, as [this Court] must for purposes of this appeal, <u>Lightbourne</u>, 549 So. 2d at 1365, the only issue before this Court is whether confidence is undermined in the outcome. <u>Gunsby v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S20 (Fla. Jan. 11, 1996); <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 1993). Mr. Roberts' motion establishes an even more substantial claim than the ones upon which the Florida Supreme court mandated a hearing in <u>Scott v. State</u>, 657 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1995), <u>Johnson v. Singletary</u>, 647 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 1994), <u>Jones</u>, and <u>Richardson</u> <u>v. State</u>, 546 So. 2d 1037 (Fla. 1989).

Ms. Haines' recantation of her testimony that Mr. Roberts confessed to her on several different occasions and that she

⁷Ms. Haines' credibility also is enhanced by the State's concession below that there are no Broward County records that contradict Ms. Haines' affidavit wherein she indicates that the charges disappeared (T. [2/21/96] 31).

observed incriminating evidence -- a gun, a baseball bat and a knife -- in Mr. Roberts' car prior to the crime alone requires that this Court grant a stay of execution and an evidentiary hearing. <u>Spaziano v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 1363 (Fla. 1995); <u>Lightbourne v. Dugger</u>, 549 So. 2d 1364, 1365 (Fla. 1989). The State's case against Mr. Roberts was based upon testimony of Ms. Haines and Ms. Rimondi. Without Ms. Haines' testimony, the State's case would depend upon Ms. R 's thoroughly impeached testimony. Even with Ms. Haines' testimony, Mr. Roberts' jury deliberated for three days before finally convicting Mr. Roberts. A review of the State's closing argument reveals the significance the State gave to Ms. Haines' testimony. The State devotes a large portion of its argument to discussing the importance of Ms. Haines' testimony and why the jury should believe her testimony. (R. 2940-96).

As the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit noted in Mr. Roberts' case, Ms. R underwent an effective "tenacious cross-examination" -- so effective that the court found that "further impeachment of R with any inconsistent statements would not have changed the outcome of the trial." <u>Roberts v. Singletary</u>, 29 F.3d 1474, 1478-79 (11th Cir. 1994). In doing so, the Court relied upon Mr. "Roberts' girlfriend [who] testified that Roberts told her he killed a man." <u>Id</u>.

Moreover, the existence of Ms. R 's eyewitness testimony does not preclude relief. In fact, <u>Jones</u> and <u>Johnson</u>

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