### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 87,438

FILED
SIDJ. WHITE

FEB 26 1996

CLUPK CUPREME COURT

Office Deput Clurk

RICKEY BERNARD ROBERTS,

**Appellant** 

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

**Appellee** 

AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA
CRIMINAL DIVISION

#### **ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

#### **FARIBA N. KOMEILY**

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0375934 Office of Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Post Office Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441

#

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

As demonstrated above, the instant case does not involve a lack of disclosure

of any favorable evidence. In contrast to <u>Kyles</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Gunsby</u>, where the lower courts had found that favorable evidence was not disclosed, in the instant case, after a full evidentiary hearing where the defense was free to present any and all evidence, the district court determined that all allegedly favorable evidence was in the possession of the defense. <u>Roberts v. Singletary</u>, 794 F. Supp. at 1122. Thus in addition to being abandoned on appeal, and, procedurally barred by virtue of being successive and untimely, these allegations are without merit pursuant to <u>Kyles</u> and <u>Gunsby</u>, <u>supra</u>.

#### **CLAIM II**

# APPELLANT'S CLAIM BASED UPON HIS PRIOR CONVICTION IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITH OUT MERIT.

The Appellant has argued that due to the pendency of collateral proceedings on his prior Maryland conviction, he is entitled to a stay of execution until the resolution of said proceedings. The defendant has raised a number of ineffective assistance of counsel claims in Maryland. Herein, he is relying only upon his Maryland trial counsel's alleged ineffectiveness for failure to obtain a juvenile ajudication, as opposed to a conviction. The State respectfully submits that, (1) the claim of pendency of such proceedings, without said conviction having been vacated to date, does not entitle Roberts to a stay and is procedurally barred due to untimeliness; (2) even if the conviction is vacated by Maryland courts, the instant claim is still procedurally barred, as this is a successive motion for post conviction relief, and both the factual and legal basis therefor have been known for in excess of two years after the finality of the Florida judgment and sentences; (3) any invalidity of the Maryland conviction is

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, pursuant to <u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u>, 486 U.S. 57, 100 S.Ct. 1981, 100 L.Ed.2d 575 (1988).

## A. History of the claim.

In 1985, Florida defense counsel filed a pretrial motion in limine to preclude any evidence of defendant's prior 1975 crime of rape and assault with intent to murder, committed in Maryland, during the guilt phase of trial. (DR. 231-3). Said motion reflects that the defense had full knowledge of the circumstances of said conviction. Id. The defense noted that the defendant, who at the time was 16 years of age, had been arrested in 1974 for the rape of a 17 year old female, after forcible entry into the victim's apartment, and had then stabbed her several times. (DR. 231). The defense noted that after, "a waiver of jurisdiction in the juvenile court, the accused, through counsel, waived jury trial, being found guilty after a bench trial." (DR. 232). The judgment and sentence were upheld on appeal, in April, 1976. Id. "In 1983, after his release on parole, the accused became a fugitive from parole supervision in the State of Maryland, remaining a fugitive until his arrest on the case before this Court." Id.

At the 1985 sentencing phase of defendant's trial, the State presented both documentary evidence and testimony from the investigating police officer, with respect to said prior conviction of rape and assault from Maryland. (DR. 3284-99). The Maryland officer described the defendant's above noted underlying conduct in said crime, based, in part, upon the defendant's own voluntary statements to the police. Id. See also Roberts, 794 F. Supp. 1138. The defense had no objection, and in fact,

had been willing to stipulate to the fact of the conviction and having been on parole. (R. 3217, 3247, 3255, 3297-98).<sup>5</sup> Rather, the defense wished to preclude presentation of the underlying conduct. (R. 3247-49). The objection was overruled, upon the State's argument that, "the purpose for considering aggravating and mitigating circumstances is to engage in a character analysis of the defendant to ascertain whether the ultimate penalty is called for in his or her particular case." (R. 3248-9).

On cross-examination of said officer, the defense stated, "We have Rickey Roberts' records here, if you need to refresh your recollection." (DR. 3300). The defense then proceeded to establish the age of the defendant at the time of the case, the pretrial motions, date of the bench trial, waiver of a jury, degree of the crime in Maryland, etc. (DR. 3300-301). The defense also established that the defendant had been subsequently imprisoned at the Patuxent Institute in Maryland, which houses inmates with psychiatric or psychological problems. (DR. 3301-2).

During its case for mitigation, the defense then presented testimony from J. Toomer, PhD. (DR. 3313). Dr. Toomer testified as to the defendant's "psycho-social history" from "approximately age three" through the time of trial. (DR. 3316-3325). He specifically relied upon records from the Patuxent facility in Maryland where defendant had been an inmate. (DR. 3319, 3337). Toomer described the defendant's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The only objection to the documentary evidence was as to the parole order from Patuxent Institute, on the grounds that it was not a properly authenticated document. (R. 3255-56).

various "confrontations with the criminal justice system," including that in Maryland. (DR. 3324-5). Toomer stated that his conclusion, with respect to mental mitigation, was arrived at "by looking at the total picture of the patient from the very beginning," based on the above stated psycho-social history and records. (DR. 3329).

On cross examination, the State established that knowledge of what had happened at the time of crimes was necessary to Dr. Toomer's diagnosis. (DR. 3334). The records from Patuxent Institute, which had actually been utilized by Dr. Toomer, were then introduced into evidence and published to the jury. (DR. 545-555. 3341-3, 3346-47). The fact of the Maryland conviction, the length of his sentence (life), and the underlying circumstances of the offense were included in said reports. (DR. 546). Likewise, Dr. Stillman, another defense expert as to mental mitigators, testified that he had also relied upon the Patuxent Institute's reports, in addition to "a police report of the event as it occurred." (DR. 3387).

The trial court found the Maryland conviction to be a prior violent felony aggravator. That court also found that since Roberts had been on parole when he committed the Florida crimes, the under sentence of imprisonment aggravator was also applicable. On direct appeal, this Court noted that neither of said aggravators had been challenged on any basis. Roberts v. State, at 510 So. 2d 894, n. 2.

In the first, 1989, motion for post-conviction relief, current collateral counsel for defendant alleged, "Mr. Roberts' sentence of death was based upon an

unconstitutionally obtained prior conviction and therefore also on misinformation of constitutional magnitude in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments, and counsel was ineffective for failing to litigate this claim." (PCR. 171). Collateral counsel stated that they were in possession of the Maryland files and a "cursory" review of those files reflected that the prior conviction "suffers from the same constitutional infirmity as the instant [case]," and that Roberts "was suffering in 1974 from the same mental illnesses he suffered from during the 1985 proceedings." (PCR. 172). No other basis for alleged invalidity was specified.<sup>6</sup>

This Court found that the claim was procedurally barred as it could have been raised on direct appeal. Roberts v. State, 568 So. 2d at 1258-59. No new allegations or evidence were presented in the 1991 federal petition for writ of habeas corpus, or at the 1992 evidentiary hearing thereon. The Federal District Court thus honored this Court's finding of procedural bar. 794 F. Supp. at 1141. On appeal, the defendant abandoned this claim in the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. Roberts, 29 F. 3d at 1477.

In April 1995, defendant through the same collateral counsel noted above, filed a motion for post conviction relief in the Maryland State Court. The State of Florida

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Prior violent juvenile charges, which have not been reduced to felony convictions, do not constitute a statutory aggravator under Florida law. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 440 So. 2d 570, 579 (Fla. 1983).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Federal District Court opinion reflects that the Maryland trial transcripts had been presented to it. Roberts, 794 F. Supp. 1138 n. 25.

was not a party, nor did the defendant ever serve it with any of the Maryland pleadings. (App. 1, p. 3). Maryland provides for an automatic post conviction hearing, pursuant to Article 27, Annotated Code of Maryland, Section 645 A (f). Such a hearing was scheduled for November 20, 1995. The defense sought to continue said hearing, on the grounds that it was having difficulty transporting the defendant to Maryland, again without any service of any pleadings upon Florida. The hearing was continued. Thereafter, defendant wrote a letter requesting that no hearing be scheduled for January 4, or 11-20, 1996. (App. 3). The hearing was rescheduled for March 22, 1996.

The defendant then filed a motion to expedite the hearing after the Florida Governor signed a warrant for execution. A week prior to the scheduled date of execution, on February 16, 1996, the defense, which had previously wanted Roberts to "testify in person," announced that they would be willing to submit affidavits or depositions in lieu of defendant's live testimony. (App. 4, p. 3). The defense also stated that it had a number of other witnesses, and requested to "submit Affidavits right now or early --" (App. 4, p. 3-4,13).

Maryland objected, on the grounds that both the trial defense counsel and the trial judge had died prior to the filing of defendant's motion.<sup>8</sup> Moreover trial counsel's files with respect to the Maryland conviction could not be found. (App. 4, p. 6-7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The trial judge and trial counsel died on December 17, 1992, and June 7, 1992, respectively. (App. 2 at pp. 2, 34).

The defense affidavits or depositions had not been provided to Maryland either. (App. 5, p. 21). The Maryland post-conviction judge, having expressed concern "about the issue of laches in this case," denied the motion to expedite based upon the State of Maryland's objection. (App. 4, at pp 5, 13).

The defendant did not appeal to Maryland state courts. On Saturday evening, February 17, 1996, counsel for the State of Florida received telephonic notice from defense counsel that a federal petition for writ of habeas corpus had been filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Maryland. (App. 1, p. 2). The pleadings were faxed on Sunday afternoon, February 18, 1996. Id. They reflected that the Secretary of Florida's Department of Corrections was a named party, and that a request for stay of Florida warrant proceedings was pending. (App. 1, pp. 3-4). Counsel for Florida was also informed that the district court had orally scheduled a hearing for Tuesday, February 20, 1996, at 4:00 p.m., as Monday, February 19, 1996, was a federal holiday. However, the scope of the hearing and whether Florida's presence was required had not been determined. (App. 1, p. 2). Florida served a motion to dismiss on February 19, 1996. (App. 1).

The District Court rescheduled the hearing, first for 5:00 p.m., February 20, 1996, and then for 8:00 a.m., February 21, 1996, due to defense counsel's travel difficulties. Again there was no notice as to the scope of the hearing or any requirement for Florida's presence. Undersigned counsel nevertheless attended this Maryland District Court hearing via telephone conference. (App. 5).

In the meantime, at approximately 4:00 p.m. on February 20, 1996, defense counsel had filed their motion for post conviction relief in the Circuit Court in Miami, Florida. Later that evening, the Florida Circuit Court scheduled a hearing for 5:00 p.m. on February 21, 1996. Said motion, inter alia, alleged that the prior Maryland conviction was invalid, specifically referencing ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to seek a juvenile adjudication in Maryland.

The Maryland Federal District Court was advised of the Florida pleadings and the scheduled hearing thereon. (App. 5). Nonetheless, the District Court entered an oral order that unless there was a "permanent" stay in effect by 5:00 p.m. on February 21, 1996, counsel for Florida had to appear, in person, by 8:00 a.m. on February 22, 1996, in Baltimore, Maryland. (App.5).

The State Circuit Court in Miami, after a hearing which terminated at approximately 7:30 p.m. on February 21, 1996, orally denied the defendant's motion for post conviction relief and request for stay. Counsel for Florida thus personally appeared before the Maryland District Court on February 22, 1996 at 8:00 a.m. On the same date, the Miami Circuit Court entered its written order. Upon the defendant's filing of his Notice of Appeal to the Florida Supreme Court, this Court entered a stay of execution until 7:00 a.m., February 29, 1996. The warrant expires at noon on the same date.

The Maryland Federal District Court was advised of this court's order. The said

federal court then denied Florida's motion to dismiss, assumed jurisdiction over Florida, and scheduled a hearing, on the State of Maryland's Answer, for 9:00 a.m., February 29, 1996. Said order was previously lodged with this Court. The federal court hearing is limited to the issues of failure to exhaust State remedies and laches, which are the only defenses currently pled by the State of Maryland. (App. 2).

# B. Procedural Default

The Appellant has stated that both the state court and federal court in Maryland have ordered an evidentiary hearing on his prior 1975 conviction. Brief of Appellant, at p. 54. The Appellant has thus argued that he is entitled to a stay of execution from this Court, in order for the Maryland courts to address the validity of his prior conviction.

The Appellee would first note that the State of Maryland has relied upon laches, in both state and federal courts, since despite the availability of a remedy, defendant has waited in excess of twenty years, until after both defense counsel and the trial judge died in 1992, and the former's files cannot be located. The Maryland state court, which granted an automatic evidentiary hearing pursuant to its own rules of procedure, has refused to expedite said hearing. The Maryland federal court's hearing is on the issues of laches and failure to exhaust state remedies. Neither court has made any preliminary assessment of the substantive merits of the defendant's claims.

More importantly however, this Court has repeatedly held that similar pendency of post-conviction efforts to vacate a prior conviction are not a ground for a stay of

execution, pursuant to <u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u>. <u>See Henderson v. Singletary</u>, 617 So. 2d 313, 316, n.4 (Fla. 1993) (pendency of collateral proceedings to vacate prior conviction did not entitle defendant to stay of execution under <u>Johnson</u>; this Court also refused to direct expedited review of such proceedings); <u>Eutzy v. State</u>, 541 So. 2d 1143, 1146 (1989) ("the fact that Eutzy is seeking collateral review of this [prior] conviction does not entitle him to relief under <u>Johnson</u>."); <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 538 So. 2d 445, 447 (Fla. 1989) (same); <u>Tafero v. State</u>, 561 So. 2d 557, 559 (Fla. 1990).

Moreover, the State submits that, even if the Maryland courts invalidate the prior conviction, any claim pursuant to <u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u> will remain procedurally barred. This is because the claim based upon <u>Johnson</u> is successive, and both the factual and legal basis<sup>9</sup> of the claim were known at least as of 1988, prior to the defense's first September 1989 motion for post conviction relief (which in fact did allege invalidity of the prior conviction). See <u>Adams v. State</u>, 543 So. 2d 1244, 1246 (Fla. 1989) (all post conviction relief motions filed after June 30, 1989, and based on new facts or significant change in the law must be made within two years of date facts become known or change was announced).

In <u>Henderson v. Singletary</u>, 617 So. 2d 313, 316 (Fla. 1993), this Court held a similar claim based upon an invalid prior conviction to be procedurally barred:

The factual basis for the claim was available as of at least 1985, when the defense was in possession of the Maryland records and had the defendant's "psychosocial" history available to it. Florida case law prohibiting use of juvenile adjudications as a statutory aggravator was available since 1983; <u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u> was decided in 1988.

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